RECEIVED

08-10-2018

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT NO. 2017AP2278

Kristi Koschkee, Amy Rosno, Christopher Martinson and Mary Carney,

Petitioners,

v.

Tony Evers; in his official capacity as Wisconsin Superintendent of Public Instruction and Wisconsin Department of Public Instruction,

Respondents.

Original Action

PETITIONERS' BRIEF AND APPENDIX

Richard M. Esenberg, WI Bar No. 1005622 Brian McGrath, WI Bar No. 1016840 CJ Szafir, WI Bar No. 1088577 WISCONSIN INSTITUTE FOR LAW & LIBERTY 1139 E. Knapp Street Milwaukee, WI 53202 414-727-9455 FAX: 414-727-6385 Attorneys for Petitioners

INTRODUCTION

In 1848, the people of Wisconsin adopted a constitution containing a provision establishing the office of the Superintendent of Public Instruction ("Superintendent"). Wis. Const. art. X, § 1. Although the supervision of public instruction was "vested" in this Superintendent and such other officers as the legislature might direct, the Constitution made clear that the definition of "supervision" was reserved to the legislature. The provision that created the office of Superintendent also explained that the office's "powers" and "duties" would be "prescribed by law" at a future date. Id. Later that year, the Wisconsin legislature obliged, passing a law which, among other things, directed the Superintendent to "perform such . . . duties as the . . . governor of this state may direct." Laws of 1848 at 129. From the very beginning, then, it was understood that the Superintendent was subordinate to the legislative branch and could be made answerable (or "subordinate") to the head of the executive branch.

Over the years, the legislature has repeatedly modified the powers and duties of the Superintendent. One such modification is the subject of this lawsuit. The legislature recently enacted the Regulations from the Executive in Need of Scrutiny ("REINS") Act, invoking its right to redefine anew the Superintendent's role and relationship with the executive branch. *See* 2017 Wis. Act 57. Specifically, the legislature directed all state agencies, when exercising their legislatively-delegated authority to promulgate administrative rules, to submit information about those rules first to the Department of Administration ("DOA"), an executive-branch agency, and then to the Chief Executive, the governor, for his or her approval. *See* Wis. Stat. § 227.135(2). Rulemaking may not proceed until approved by the Governor, and the final rule may not be submitted to the legislature or implemented without gubernatorial approval. This rule applies to the Department of Public Instruction ("DPI"), a state agency created by the legislature and headed by the Superintendent, § 15.37, and to the Superintendent himself, also an "agency" as statutorily defined. *See* § 227.01(1) ("Agency' means a[n]... officer in the state government").

But DPI and the Superintendent do not consider themselves bound by these laws. Relying on this Court's decision in *Coyne v. Walker*, 2016 WI 38, 368 Wis. 2d 444, 879 N.W.2d 520, these entities believe they are entitled to bypass executive branch review of their administrative rules. They contend that the legislature may not qualify whatever power it chooses to grant the Superintendent by deploying another officer or executive department official to act as a check upon the Superintendent's exercise of that power. In other words, any power granted to the Superintendent must be exclusive and unlimited by any other person. Put simply, the Superintendent contends that he need not take the bitter with the sweet.

But Article X, Section 1 makes clear that the *only* powers the Superintendent has are those given by the legislature. Nowhere does it state that no other officer may be given any authority that limits that of the Superintendent. And even if the Superintendent has some non-specific "right" to supervise, rulemaking is something else: a delegated legislative power. *Martinez v. DILHR*, 165 Wis. 2d 687, 698, 478 N.W.2d 582 (1992) (an agency has no inherent constitutional authority to make rules). Thus, the legislature may impose whatever procedural safeguards it desires on the exercise of rulemaking authority by DPI and the Superintendent.

The Constitution's "framers did not provide that the [Superintendent] constitutes the fourth branch of our state government," unaccountable to either the legislature or the governor. *Coyne*, 368 Wis. 2d 444, ¶249 (Ziegler, J., dissenting). Petitioners therefore ask this Court to

preserve the separation of powers and definitively rule that DPI and the Superintendent must comply with the REINS Act.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Must the Department of Public Instruction and the Superintendent comply with the REINS Act?

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT & PUBLICATION

This case involves important questions of state constitutional and statutory law. Consistent with its usual practice, this Court should hear oral argument in this case and publish its decision.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 9, 2017, the Governor signed into law 2017 Wisconsin Act 57, also known as the REINS Act. As the name of the Act suggests, the legislature designed the law to provide an added measure of control over executive-branch rulemaking. This dispute focuses on changes the REINS Act made to the early stages of the rulemaking process: the preparation of statements of scope, the submission of these statements to the Department of Administration, and the requirement of gubernatorial approval before any further work on the rule may be performed.¹

When a state agency wishes to promulgate a rule, it must first prepare a "statement of scope" setting forth certain basic information about the proposed rule and then send that statement of scope to the Legislative Reference Bureau ("LRB") for publication in the Wisconsin Administrative Register. Wis. Stat. § 227.135(1).

The REINS Act added an intermediate step to this process. Effective September 1, 2017, *see* 2017 Wis. Act. 57, § 37,

[a]n agency that has prepared a statement of the scope of the proposed rule shall present the statement to the department of administration, which shall make a determination as to whether the agency has the explicit authority to promulgate the rule as proposed in the statement of scope and shall report the statement of scope and its determination to the governor who, in his or her discretion, may approve or reject the statement of scope. The agency may not send the statement to the legislative reference bureau for publication . . . until the governor issues a written notice of approval of the statement.

Wis. Stat. § 227.135(2). The same provision also halts the rulemaking process until the Department of Administration ("DOA") and the Governor have performed their tasks: "No state employee or official may perform any

¹ Certain of these changes built on changes made by an earlier enactment, 2011 Wisconsin Act 21.

activity in connection with the drafting of a proposed rule . . . until the governor . . . approve[s] the statement." *Id*.

Once the rule is complete, it may not go into effect without gubernatorial approval:

After a proposed rule is in final draft form, the agency shall submit the proposed rule to the governor for approval. The governor, in his or her discretion, may approve or reject the proposed rule. If the governor approves a proposed rule, the governor shall provide the agency with a written notice of that approval. No proposed rule may be submitted to the legislature for review under s. 227.19(2) unless the governor has approved the proposed rule in writing.

Wis. Stat. § 227.185. In utilizing the governor as a check on agency rulemaking (promulgating standards with the force of law), the legislature sought to check rulemaking in a way that is similar to the gubernatorial check on legislation: the veto.

Shortly after the effective date of the REINS Act, the Department of Public Instruction – a state agency – sent statements of scope to LRB for publication without first presenting them to DOA or obtaining written gubernatorial approval.

For example, on September 18, 2017, LRB published a statement of scope created by DPI in the Wisconsin Administrative Register as SS 101-

17. Wis. Admin. Reg. No. 741A3 (Sept. 18, 2017).² On October 4, 2017, Petitioners' counsel sent an Open Records Request to DPI, *see* Wis. Stat. §§ 19.31-39, asking for any documents that would reflect if and when DPI sent Statement of Scope SS 101-17 to DOA.³ DPI responded to counsel's Open Records request on November 3, 2017.⁴ The response does not show a copy of Statement of Scope SS 101-17 being sent to the Department of Administration.

On October 9, 2017, LRB published three more statements of scope created by DPI in the Wisconsin Administrative Register as SS 108-17, SS 109-17, and SS 110-17. Wis. Admin. Reg. No. 742A2 (Oct. 9, 2017).⁵ On October 30, 2017, Petitioners' counsel sent an Open Records Request – this time to DOA – asking for copies of these scope statements if sent to DOA by DPI and for copies of any other scope statements sent to DOA by DPI

² A true and correct copy of SS 101-17 as published in the Administrative Register is included in the Appendix as Exhibit A (P. App. 101-02). This exhibit, along with all exhibits referenced in this brief, are matters of public record. Consequently, Petitioners request this Court take judicial notice of these documents under Wis. Stat. § 902.01(2)(b)-(4). *See, e.g., State v. Vesper*, 2018 WI App 31, ¶17, n.4, ____ Wis. 2d ____, 912 N.W.2d 418 ("We may take judicial notice of public records.").

³ A true and correct copy of the Open Records Request is included in the Appendix as Exhibit E (P. App. 109-10).

⁴ A true and correct copy of this response is included in the Appendix as Exhibit F (P. App. 111-21).

⁵ True and correct copies of SS 108-17, SS 109-17 and SS 110-17 as published in the Administrative Register are included in the Appendix as Exhibits B (P. App. 103-04), C (P. App. 105-06), and D (P. App. 107-08), respectively.

after September 1, 2017 (the effective date of the REINS Act).⁶ DOA responded on November 1, 2017 stating that it had not received SS 101-17, SS 108-17, SS 109-17, or SS 110-17 from DPI and had not received any other scope statements from DPI since September 1, 2017.⁷

Notably, in each of the above statements of scope DPI declared that "[p]ursuant to *Coyne v. Walker*, the Department of Public Instruction is not required to obtain the Governor's approval for the statement of scope for this rule," referencing this Court's 2016 decision in *Coyne v. Walker*, 368 Wis. 2d 444. DPI, in other words, did not view itself bound by the REINS Act.

Consequently, on November 20, 2017, Petitioners filed a petition to this Court to take jurisdiction of this dispute as an original action with the aim of stopping the illegal expenditure of taxpayer funds by DPI and obtaining a declaration that DPI must comply with all portions of the REINS Act.

The four statements of scope discussed above are the statements Petitioners referenced in their petition to this Court. As of this date, DPI

⁶ A true and correct copy of the Open Records Request is included in the Appendix as Exhibit G (P. App. 122-23).

⁷ A true and correct copy of this response is included in the Appendix as Exhibit H (P. App. 124).

has now either withdrawn or indicated an intent not to pursue rules under each of them. *See* Public Notice: Withdrawal of CR 17-069, Wis. Admin. Reg. No. 742A4 (Oct. 23, 2017);⁸ Public Notice: Recision [sic] of SS 108-17, 110-17, 125-17, and 021-18, Wis. Admin. Reg. No. 747B (Mar. 26, 2018); Public Notice: Withdrawal of CR 18-009 and 18-012, Wis. Admin. Reg. No. 747B (Mar. 26, 2018).⁹

But DPI has since created at least two new statements of scope – SS 039-18 and SS 037-18 – which are similar in nature to two of the withdrawn statements.¹⁰ *Compare* SS 039-18, Wis. Admin. Reg. No. 748A1 (April 2, 2018) ("Relating to: The Early College Credit Program and Changes to PI 40 as a result of 2017 Wisconsin Act 59"), *and* SS 037-18, Wis. Admin. Reg. No. 748A1 (April 2, 2018) ("Relating to: Restoring Part Time Open Enrollment Rules"), *with* SS 109-17 ("Relating to: Changes to PI 40 as a result of 2017 Wisconsin Act 59"), *and* SS 110-17 ("Related to: Restoring part time open enrollment rules"). And with respect to these statements, DPI has again proceeded in defiance of the REINS Act.

⁸ A true and correct copy of the October 23, 2017 Public Notice as published in the Administrative Register is included in the Appendix as Exhibit I (P. App. 125).

⁹ A true and correct copy of the March 26, 2018 Public Notice as published in the Administrative Register is included in the Appendix as Exhibit J (P. App. 126).

¹⁰ True and correct copies of SS 039-18 and SS 037-18 as published in the Administrative Register are included in the Appendix as Exhibits K (P. App. 127-28) and L (P. App. 129-30), respectively.

This time, as a response to another Open Records request by Petitioners' counsel discloses, DPI did present the statements of scope to DOA.¹¹ But it has made clear that it does not regard itself bound by the REINS Act's requirement of gubernatorial approval before rulemaking can proceed or its requirement of gubernatorial approval of final rules. The March 27, 2018 email from DPI to DOA presenting the statements contained the following warning:

Note that the Governor, the Secretary of the Department of Administration, and the State Superintendent of Public Instruction are each permanently enjoined from implementing provisions of Wis. Stat. ch. 227 that require approval of the Governor or the Department of Administration over the Superintendent's rulemaking activities. *Coyne v. Walker*, No. 11-CV-4573 (Wis. Cir. Ct. Dane County Oct. 30, 2012), *aff'd*, 2016 WI 38, 368 Wis. 2d 444. This injunction prohibits the Department of Administration from submitting the enclosed statement of scope to the Governor for approval or rejection under Wis. Stat. § 227.135(2). The determination as to whether the DPI has authority to promulgate the rule as proposed in the statement of scope may be submitted to the DPI for consideration.

(P.App. 134.) Less than a week later, LRB simply published SS 039-18

and SS 037-18 in the administrative register without gubernatorial

¹¹ A true and correct copy of the Open Records Request is included in the Appendix as Exhibit M (P. App. 131-32). A true and correct copy of the response is included in the Appendix as Exhibit N (P. App. 133-55).

approval. Wis. Admin. Reg. No. 748A1 (April 2, 2018). The REINS Act was not followed.

On April 13, 2018, this Court granted Petitioners' Petition and assumed jurisdiction over this original action.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This case requires the interpretation of state constitutional and statutory law. In a typical case this Court reviews such issues de novo. *Black v. City of Milwaukee*, 2016 WI 47, ¶21, 369 Wis. 2d 272, 882 N.W.2d 333. Because this is an original action, this Court is reviewing all questions in the first instance.

ARGUMENT

Neither a legislature, nor a governor, nor a court, the administrative state has always lacked a true home in our tripartite system of state government. Because our framers never created a "fourth branch" of government, it is able to accomplish its work without damage to the system only when kept firmly in check by each branch of government: the legislature, by carefully defining administrative authority; the executive, by vigilantly supervising administrative action; and the judiciary, by steadfastly proclaiming when administrative action has gone too far. In recent years this Court has not hesitated to act when administrative activity threatened to upset the constitutional balance because of insufficient regard for the *judicial* power. *See, e.g., Tetra Tech EC, Inc. v. Wisconsin Dep't of Revenue*, 2018 WI 75, ____ Wis. 2d. ____, ___ N.W.2d ____ (agency legal interpretations not entitled to judicial deference); *Gabler v. Crime Victims Rights Bd.*, 2017 WI 67, 376 Wis. 2d 147, 897 N.W.2d 384 (administrative board lacked power to discipline members of judicial branch).

This dispute is of a piece with those cases, this time featuring attempts by administrative entities to flout the *legislative* power, and this Court's intervention is again needed. Specifically, this case concerns the extent to which the legislature may qualify rulemaking authority it has granted to DPI and the Superintendent. Its resolution therefore hinges on a proper understanding of how administrative rulemaking, DPI, and the Superintendent each fit into the broader constitutional context. This brief will therefore first summarize fundamental principles relating to each of these concepts. It will then apply those principles to the facts of this case, showing that DPI and the Superintendent *are* subject to the legislative will, expressed in this dispute via the REINS Act.

12

I) THE LEGISLATURE MAY BOTH DELEGATE RULEMAKING AUTHORITY TO EXECUTIVE BRANCH ENTITIES AND QUALIFY THAT DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY

As at the federal level, Wisconsin government consists of three separate branches of government: the legislative branch, the executive branch, and the judicial branch. *E.g., Gabler*, 376 Wis. 2d 147, ¶¶3, 11. The Wisconsin Constitution leaves no ambiguity as to where the great governmental powers reside: "[t]he legislative power shall be vested in a senate and assembly," Wis. Const. art. IV, § 1, "[t]he executive power shall be vested in a governor," Wis. Const. art. V, § 1, and "[t]he judicial power of this state shall be vested in a unified court system," Wis. Const. art. VII, § 2; *see also Gabler*, 376 Wis. 2d 147, ¶11.

In this scheme it is the legislature – the senate and assembly – that makes law:

The power to declare whether or not there shall be a law; to determine the general purpose or policy to be achieved by the law; to fix the limits within which the law shall operate - is a power which is vested by our Constitution in the Legislature, and may not be delegated.

State v. Whitman, 196 Wis. 472, 220 N.W. 929, 941 (1928). The Wisconsin Constitution's assignment of all legislative authority to just one branch of government is an "essential precaution in favor of liberty." THE

FEDERALIST NO. 47 (James Madison); *Gabler*, 376 Wis. 2d 147, ¶5. This is so because "a government with shared legislative and executive power could first 'enact tyrannical laws' then 'execute them in a tyrannical manner." *Gabler*, 376 Wis. 2d 147, ¶5 (quoting 1 Montesquieu, The Spirit of the Laws 151-52 (Oskar Piest et al. eds., Thomas Nugent trans., 1949) (1748)). Our state Constitution thus keeps the lawmakers separate from the law enforcers in order to safeguard the populace.

Nevertheless, this Court has acknowledged that the legislature may grant to administrative agencies "the power to make rules and effectively administer a given policy." *Gilbert v. Wis. Medical Examining Board*, 119 Wis. 2d 168, 184, 349 N.W.2d 68 (1984). But rulemaking – unlike, for instance, enforcement – remains a legislative function. *See* Wis. Stat. § 227.19; *Martinez*, 165 Wis. 2d at 697 (agency rulemaking power derived from authority delegated by legislature). The source of agencies' legislative powers is the legislature. *Martinez*, 165 Wis. 2d at 698 ("As a legislative creation, [an agency] has no inherent constitutional authority to make rules, and, furthermore, its rulemaking powers can be repealed by the legislature."). And because it is a legislative function, its delegation must be carefully cabined and controlled. *See Gabler*, 376 Wis. 2d 147, ¶31

(quoting *Barland v. Eau Claire Cty*, 216 Wis. 2d 560, 573, 575 N.W.2d 691 (1998) ("[[]C]ore zones of authority are to be 'jealously guarded' by each branch of government."").

Certain limitations on this delegation of legislative authority are constitutionally-imposed. The legislature must clearly define the scope of delegated authority and provide clear standards for its exercise. See Whitman, 220 N.W. at 941-43; Martinez, 165 Wis. 2d at 701 ("[I]t is incumbent on the legislature, pursuant to its constitutional grant of legislative power, to maintain some legislative accountability over rulemaking."). Others are exercises of the legislature prerogative to decide what it will permit agencies to do and how it will permit them to do it. Whitman, 220 N.W. at 942 ("[T]he Legislature may withdraw powers which have been granted, prescribe the procedure through which granted powers are to be exercised, and, if necessary, wipe out the agency entirely."); see also Schmidt v. Dep't of Res. Dev., 39 Wis. 2d 46, 56, 158 N.W.2d 306 (1968) ("The very existence of the administrative agency . . . is dependent upon the will of the legislature; its . . . powers, duties and scope of authority are fixed and circumscribed by the legislature and subject to legislative change.").

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