STATE OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

09-25-2018

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2017AP2278

KRISTI KOSCHKEE, AMY ROSNO, CHRISTOPHER MARTINSON, and MARY CARNEY

Petitioners,

v.

ANTHONY EVERS, STATE SUPERINTENDENT OF PUBLIC INSTRUCTION, and the WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC INSTRUCTION

Respondents.

ORIGINAL ACTION

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF AND APPENDIX

WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC INSTRUCTION

Ryan Nilsestuen, SBN 1091407 Benjamin R. Jones, SBN 1089357 Post Office Box 7841 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7841 (608) 266-8762 (608) 266-5856 (Fax)

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE SPI AND DPI ARE COMPLYING WITH THE REINS ACT.

a. The REINS Act did not create or modify the requirement under Wis. Stat. §§ 227.135(2) or 227.185 for agencies to obtain gubernatorial approval of scope statements and proposed rules.

The Petitioners contend the only issue presented in this matter is whether the SPI and DPI (collectively "SPI") must comply with the REINS Act. Pet. Br. at 36. However, the Petitioners continuously misrepresent what the REINS Act actually entails. Specifically, the Petitioners claim the SPI is not complying with two primary requirements of Wis. Stat. § 227.135(2): 1) the requirement to submit a scope statement to the Department of Administration (DOA); and 2) the requirement to wait for gubernatorial approval before publishing the scope statement or performing any work on the proposed rule. *See* Pet. Br. at 6-11.

However, the requirement to wait for gubernatorial approval is *not* part of the REINS Act. 2017 Wis. Act 57. The requirement to wait for gubernatorial approval was created by Act 21, and has not since been modified in any material way by the REINS Act or otherwise. *See* 2011 Wis. Act 21; 2017 Wis. Act 57.

To illustrate, the pre-REINS Act language of Wis. Stat. § 227.135(2) requiring agencies to wait for gubernatorial approval before publishing a scope statement reads as follows:

... The agency may not send the statement to the legislative reference bureau for publication under sub. (3) until the governor issues a written notice of approval of the statement.

. .

Wis. Stat. § 227.135(2) (2015-16). After the passage of the REINS Act, Wis. Stat. § 227.135(2) states:

... The agency may not send the statement to the legislative reference bureau for publication under sub. (3) until the governor issues a written notice of approval of the statement.

. . .

Wis. Stat. § 227.135(2) (2017-18). The two versions are, of course, identical. In spite of this, the Petitioners claim falsely that the gubernatorial approval of scope statements is a unique creation or component of the REINS Act. Pet. Br. at 4-5.

Similarly, the pre-REINS Act language of Wis. Stat. § 227.135(2) requiring agencies to wait for gubernatorial approval before performing work on a rule states:

... No state employee or official may perform any activity in connection with the drafting of a proposed rule except for an activity necessary to prepare the statement of the scope of the proposed rule until the governor and the individual or body with policy—making powers over the subject matter of the proposed rule approve the statement. ...

Wis. Stat. § 227.135(2) (2015-16). After the passage of the REINS Act, Wis. Stat. § 227.135(2) states:

... No state employee or official may perform any activity in connection with the drafting of a proposed rule, except for an activity necessary to prepare the statement of the scope of the proposed rule until the governor and the individual or body

with policy—making powers over the subject matter of the proposed rule approve the statement. ...

Wis. Stat. § 227.135(2) (2017-18) (emphasis added). An eagle-eyed observer will note, the REINS Act added a single comma between the words "rule" and "except." 2017 Wis. Act 57, § 3.

Again, the requirement to wait for gubernatorial approval is *not* part of the REINS Act. The requirement to wait is, in fact, a creation of Act 21. *See* 2011 Wis. Act 21, §§ 4, 32. The Dane County Circuit Court, Court of Appeals, and this Court interpreted this exact language to be unconstitutional as applied to the SPI. *Coyne*, 2016 WI 38. Apparently, for the Petitioners, a single comma is enough to nullify the interpretation of a statute by the entire judicial branch, such that reconsideration of the same language in Wis. Stat. § 227.135(2) is necessary.

Furthermore, the pre-REINS Act language of Wis. Stat. § 227.185 required agencies to wait for gubernatorial approval of a final rule draft before submission to the legislature:

After a proposed rule is in final draft form, the agency shall submit the proposed rule to the governor for approval. The governor, in his or her discretion, may approve or reject the proposed rule. If the governor approves a proposed rule, the governor shall provide the agency with a written notice of that approval. No proposed rule may be submitted to the legislature for review under s. 227.19 (2) unless the governor has approved the proposed rule in writing.

Wis. Stat. § 227.185 (2015-16). After the passage of the REINS Act, Wis. Stat. § 227.185 states:

After a proposed rule is in final draft form, the agency shall submit the proposed rule to the governor for approval. The governor, in his or her discretion, may approve or reject the proposed rule. If the governor approves a proposed rule, the governor shall provide the agency with a written notice of that approval. No proposed rule may be submitted to the legislature for review under s. 227.19 (2) unless the governor has approved the proposed rule in writing. The agency shall notify the joint committee for review of administrative rules whenever it submits a proposed rule for approval under this section.

Wis. Stat. § 227.185 (2017-18) (emphasis added); *See also* 2017 Wis. Act 57, § 21. Here, the REINS Act adds a notification provision that has absolutely no effect on the gubernatorial approval created by Act 21.

The Petitioners know that the REINS Act did not change any of the provisions of Wis. Stat. §§ 227.135(2) or 227.185 that this Court found to be unconstitutional in *Coyne*. They repeatedly misrepresent this fact to the Court to create the illusion of a novel question of law applicable to a "different act of the legislature." Pet. Br. at 34. The reality is that the REINS Act made limited changes to the rulemaking process, and that the SPI is complying fully with those changes.

b. The REINS Act created the requirement that agencies submit scope statements to the DOA for review and hold preliminary public hearing and comment periods upon request.

The REINS Act amended Wis. Stat. § 227.135(2) to require agencies to submit scope statements to the DOA. 2017 Wis. Act 57, § 3. The DOA then determines if there is legal authority to draft the rule as described by the scope statement. *Id*.

In this action, the SPI has not challenged its obligation to submit statements of scope to the DOA. The SPI does not identify any constitutional infirmity with the DOA performing an analysis of the legal authority of a proposed rule. The Legislative Council performs this same analysis and has done so since 1986 under Wis. Stat. § 227.15(2)(a). See also 1985 Wis. Act 182, § 26 ("The legislative council staff shall, within 20 working days following receipt of a proposed rule, ... [r]eview the statutory authority under which the agency intends to promulgate the proposed rule."). Consistent with Coyne, this requirement does not give "the Governor the ability to supplant the policy choices of the SPI," and ensures "the SPI and DPI are able to make the final decision on the contents of a proposed rule and submit that proposed rule to the Legislature at the end of the process." Coyne, 2016 WI 38, ¶¶ 68-69.

The REINS Act also created Wis. Stat. § 227.136, which states that an agency that prepares a scope statement must hold a preliminary public hearing and comment period on the statement of scope upon request by either cochairperson of the JCRAR. 2017 Wis. Act 57, § 5. As with the submission of scope statements to the DOA, the SPI does not question the constitutionality or validity of this provision.

As the Petitioners correctly assert, these provisions of the REINS Act are distinguishable from the provisions of Act 21 held unconstitutional in *Coyne*, because these provisions direct the SPI "merely to obtain input from

a state agency on its authority to promulgate a rule...". Pet. Br. at 39. Unlike Act 21, this review does not delegate to any entity the unchecked, discretionary authority to prohibit the SPI from promulgating rules. Therefore, submitting scope statements to the DOA and preliminary public hearing comment periods are consistent with *Coyne*.

c. There is no dispute that the SPI is submitting scope statements to the DOA and holding preliminary public hearing and comment periods.

All scope statements that have been prepared by the SPI since the effective date of the REINS Act have been submitted to the DOA pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 227.135(2) or else legally nullified. Pet. Br. at 8-9. All scope statements referenced by the Petitioners as violating the REINS Act have been rescinded. *Id.* Furthermore, the SPI has held preliminary public hearing and comment periods when requested. The Petitioners concede that the SPI is in compliance with what the REINS Act actually requires. Pet. Br. 9.

However, the Petitioners falsely assert the SPI is not complying with the REINS Act. As the basis for this assertion, the Petitioners state that the SPI is not waiting for gubernatorial approval of scope statements under Wis. Stat. § 227.135(2), or gubernatorial approval of final rule drafts under Wis. Stat. § 227.185. Pet. Br. at 9-10. Again, these provisions are *not* part of the REINS Act, but are instead the exact provisions of Act 21 held unconstitutional by this Court. *Coyne*, 2016 WI 38. If the SPI were to proceed as requested by the Petitioners, the SPI would be in violation of the

permanent injunction upheld by this Court in *Coyne* prohibiting the SPI, as well as the governor, from adhering to these provisions. *Id*.

II. THIS COURT SHOULD UPHOLD COYNE UNDER THE DOCTRINE OF STARE DECISIS

There has never been a dispute between the parties regarding the application of the REINS Act. The only dispute between the parties is whether this Court should cast aside its decision in *Coyne* and reconsider whether Act 21 is constitutional as applied to the SPI. To be clear, this is not simply a request to overrule precedent as applied to a new set of facts or discrete question of law. Rather, the Petitioners are asking this Court to reexamine the same facts, legislative and constitutional history, legal arguments and rationale presented to and considered by this Court in *Coyne*. Pet. Br. at 39. In doing so, the Petitioners fail to identify any compelling reason or special justification as to why this Court should reverse its own decision.

a. This Court determined Act 21 is unconstitutional as applied to the SPI.

The majority of justices in *Coyne* established a clear rule of law: Act 21 is unconstitutional as applied to the SPI. "... Act 21 is void as applied to the SPI and his subordinates." *Coyne*, 2016 WI 38, ¶ 4. "... 2011 Wis. Act 21, which altered the process of administrative rulemaking, is unconstitutional as applied to the Superintendent of Public Instruction and the Department of Public Instruction." *Id.* at ¶ 80 (Abrahamson, J.,

concurring, joined by Walsh Bradley, J.). "In my view, the challenged sections of Act 21 are as unnecessary as they are unconstitutional." *Id.* at ¶ 170 (Prosser, J., concurring).

This Court unambiguously determined the provisions of Act 21 requiring the SPI to obtain gubernatorial approval during the rulemaking process are unconstitutional. In spite of this, the Petitioners claim *Coyne* does not provide a rule of law while simultaneously asking this Court to overrule *Coyne* to vacate the rule of law prohibiting the application of Act 21 to the SPI. Pet. Br. at 35. For this Court to overrule *Coyne*, the Petitioners must show more than their dissatisfaction with its result.

b. *Coyne* should be upheld under the doctrine of stare decisis.

"This court follows the doctrine of stare decisis scrupulously because of our abiding respect for the rule of law." *State v. Luedtke*, 2015 WI 42, ¶40, 363 Wis.2d 1, 863 N.W.2d 592 (citing *Johnson Controls, Inc. v. Employers Ins. of Wausau*, 2003 WI 108, ¶ 94, 264 Wis.2d 60, 665 N.W.2d 257). The doctrine of stare decisis is necessary to further "fair and expeditious adjudication by eliminating the need to relitigate every relevant proposition in every case." *Johnson Controls, Inc.*, 2003 WI 108, ¶95. "We need finality in our litigation." *State v. Escalona-Naranjo*, 185 Wis. 2d 168, 185, 517 N.W.2d 157 (1994).

"[A]ny departure from the doctrine of stare decisis demands special justification." *Johnson Controls, Inc.*, 2003 WI 108, ¶ 96 (citation omitted).

"Failing to abide by stare decisis raises serious concerns as to whether the court is implementing principles ... founded in the law rather than in the proclivities of individuals. *Progressive N. Ins. Co. v. Romanshek*, 2005 WI 67, ¶42, 281 Wis. 2d 300, 697 N.W.2d 417 (citations omitted). "The decision to overturn a prior case must not be undertaken merely because the composition of the court has changed." *Johnson Controls, Inc.*, 2003 WI 108, ¶95.

Where this Court has previously interpreted the constitutionality of a statute, "the party challenging that interpretation must establish that [the Court's] prior interpretation was 'objectively wrong." *State v. Breitzman*, 2017 WI 100, ¶ 5, n.4, 378 Wis. 2d 431, 904 N.W.2d 93 (quoting *Romanshek*, 2005 WI 67, ¶ 45). Whether this Court "disagrees with its rationale" is an insufficient basis to overrule its previous interpretation. *Johnson Controls*, *Inc.*, 2003 WI 108, ¶ 93.

The burden is therefore on the Petitioners to show special justification to reverse this Court's interpretation of Wis. Stat. §§ 227.135(2) and 227.185, and Wis. Const. art. X, § 1, in *Coyne. See Breitzman*, 2017 WI 100, ¶5, n.4. This court considers the following five factors when determining whether to overrule prior case law: (1) changes or developments in the law have undermined the rationale behind a decision; (2) there is a need to make a decision correspond to newly ascertained facts; (3) there is a showing that the precedent has become detrimental to coherence and consistency in the

law; (4) the prior decision is unsound in principle; and (5) the prior decision is unworkable in practice. *Luedtke*, 2015 WI 42, ¶ 40.

The Petitioners fail to provide any justification for this Court to overturn *Coyne*, let alone the "special justification" necessary to overcome stare decisis. This failure is understandable, because a consideration of the relevant factors when determining whether to overrule prior case law demonstrates this court must uphold *Coyne*.

i. The Legislature has not modified the provisions of Act 21 found unconstitutional by this Court in any material way.

In *Coyne*, this Court declared Act 21 unconstitutional, and subsequent changes to Wis. Stat. ch. 227 by the REINS Act have done nothing to undermine this decision. *See* Part I, *supra*. For purposes of illustration, consider the relevant developments in the law that provided special justification to overcome stare decisis in *Johnson Controls, Inc.*, 2003 WI 108. In that case, this Court overturned *City of Edgerton v. General Casualty Co. of Wisconsin*, 184 Wis. 2d 750, 517 N.W.2d 463 (1994). Of the many problems with *Edgerton*, the *Johnson Controls* court noted: the *Edgerton* decision relied upon a treatise's definition of "damages" which had subsequently been changed; the decision ignored a large body of law on the nature of damages; it relied upon federal court decisions which were later overturned; and a subsequent decision by the Court "effectively obliterated

its intellectual foundation." *Johnson Controls, Inc.*, 2003 WI 108, ¶¶ 55-60, 71.

In this case, the Petitioners fail to identify a single change or development in the law that affects this Court's decision in *Coyne*. The unchecked power for the governor to effectively "veto" the rulemaking process under Act 21 remains unaltered by the REINS Act. Wis. Stat. § 227.135(2); *See also*, Wis. Stat. § 990.001(7) ("A revised statute is to be understood in the same sense as the original unless the change in language indicates a different meaning so clearly as to preclude judicial construction."). Similarly, the REINS Act did not affect the governor's ability to "veto" proposed rules when presented in final draft form. Wis. Stat. § 227.185.

As a result, the REINS Act did nothing to alleviate the constitutional infirmities of Act 21 identified by this Court in *Coyne*, even though the Court provided a legislative roadmap for doing so. The REINS Act does nothing to provide a "mechanism for the SPI and DPI to proceed with rulemaking in the face of withheld approval" as suggested by Justice Gableman. *Coyne*, 2016 WI 38, ¶ 71. The REINS Act does not protect the SPI's ability to "set standards" and "bring uniformity to Wisconsin's public education system" to allay the concerns of Justices Abrahamson and Bradley. *Id.*, ¶ 88. The REINS Act does not now "provide specific grounds upon which the governor

may choose not to approve a proposed rule," or otherwise restrain the governor's "unlimited discretion" as stated by Justice Prosser. *Id.*, ¶ 136.

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